UC Riverside UC Riverside Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Environmental Factors Influence the Competition Between Different Antibiotic Resistant Mutants of Escherichia coli

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/7q07q9px

Author Kang, Xiaoxi

Publication Date 2020

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA RIVERSIDE

Environmental Factors Influence the Competition Between Different Antibiotic Resistant Mutants of *Escherichia coli*

A Thesis submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

in

Chemical and Environmental Engineering

by

Xiaoxi Kang

December 2020

Thesis Committee: Dr. Yujie Men, Chairperson Dr. Jinyong Liu Dr. Yun Shen

Copyright by Xiaoxi Kang 2020 The Thesis of Xiaoxi Kang is approved:

Committee Chairperson

University of California, Riverside

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS

Environmental Factors Influence the Competition Between Different Antibiotic Resistant Mutants of *Escherichia coli*

by

Xiaoxi Kang

Master of Science, Graduate Program in Chemical and Environmental Engineering University of California, Riverside, December 2020 Dr. Yujie Men, Chairperson

Varying conditions in the environment can act as factors that influence the emergence and growth of antibiotic-resistant bacteria. To explore the effects of the environmental conditions on different antibiotic resistant mutants, we monitored the growth curves of the wild type and two strongly antibiotic resistant mutants and three mildly antibiotic resistant mutants of E.coli K-12 and conducted competition tests in pairs under different temperature, pH and salinity concentrations. Wild type was dominant at all experimental conditions, while adding antibiotic and pesticides selection stress reversed this overwhelming superiority only when we changed the incubation temperature at pH=7. The strongly resistant mutant gained more growth advantages as the temperature and pH increased and outcompeted the mildly resistant mutants. When we added additional selection pressure under experimental conditions, we found that the antibiotic and pesticide stress made this growth advantage of the strongly resistant mutant more obvious and further inhibited the growth of the wild type and mildly resistant mutants. These findings provide suggestions for the impact of environmental factors on the growth of various antibiotic resistant bacteria and the effective elimination of strong antibiotic resistant bacteria in certain conditions in the natural environment.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION
MATERIALS AND METHODS
Bacterial Strains and Growth Media2
Competition Test and Culture Conditions
Growth Curves Determination
DNA Extraction and SNP genotyping5
Statistical analyses
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION
Wild-type outcompeted resistant mutants under conditions without selection stress 6
Influence of pH on competition between antibiotic resistant mutants
Influence of temperature on competition between antibiotic resistant mutants
Influence of salinity on competition between strongly resistant mutants and mildly resistant mutants
Adding selection stress changed the competition results under certain conditions 12
Environmental implications15
REFERENCES

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Growth competition between WT, S1, S2, M1, M2, and M3 under different conditions.	. 7
Figure 2. Fractions of growth competition between S1, S2, M1, M2, and M3 after 30 generations when incubated without selection pressure under different pH (A), temperatures (B), and KCl (C)	. 9
Figure 3. Fractions of growth competition between S1, S2, M1, M2, and M3 after 30 generations when incubated with (1/5 Strep, 100 P) selection stress under different pH (A) and temperatures (B).	15

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Bacteria strains used in this study	. 3
Table 2 . Growth kinetics of E.coli K-12 strains at different conditions without selection stress.	10
Table 3. Growth kinetics of E.coli K-12 strains at different conditions with selection	
stress	14

INTRODUCTION

Antibiotics are medicines used to prevent and treat bacterial infections. Antibiotic resistance occurs when bacteria change in response to the use of these medicines. It accounts for hundreds of thousands of deaths annually, and has become one of the biggest threats to global health, food security, and development today.¹⁻² Antibiotic resistance can occur naturally, but misuse of antibiotics in humans and animals is accelerating the process. Inappropriate use of antibiotics by humans, factories, farms, and sanitation are considered important reasons in the emergence and distribution of antibiotic-resistant bacteria.³⁻⁵ Over the past years, the role of the environment as an important source and dissemination route of antibiotic resistance has been increasingly recognized. Many antibiotic-resistant bacteria will ultimately end up in the environment, such as wastewater, sludge, soil, sea water and river water. There is a growing concern that the varying conditions in the environment can act as factors that influence the emergence and growth of antibiotic-resistant bacteria.

Previous studies showed that for different aquatic systems, such as hospital wastewater, urban wastewater, landfill leachates, and drinking water, antibiotic resistant genes (ARG) abundances did not correlate well with antibiotic levels.⁶ This made researchers realize that there may be other factors involved in the selection and development of antibiotic resistance. For example, heavy metals may assist the acquisition and maintenance of ARGs,⁷ while oxidative stress may help to eliminate the resistant bacteria. Some researchers show the abundance of ARGs is positively related with wastewater quality.⁸

These findings open an intriguing and profound question on the roles of varying conditions of environments in the growth of antibiotic resistant bacteria.

It has been reported that pH, temperature, salt concentration act additively to affect the growth rate.⁹ Conner and Kotrola¹⁰ reported that the growth of *E.coli* was inhibited at pH=4 adjusted with citric acid. Parhad and Rao¹¹ found that *E.coli* failed to grow and was eliminated within one day when incubated under high pH.

Here, we want to explore what environmental conditions will make an antibioticresistant strain outcompeting another. We examined and compared the growth of wild type and five derived antibiotic resistant mutants of *E.coli* K-12 under different incubation temperature, pH and salinity concentrations to find some environmental conditions that may favor the wild-type or mildly resistant mutant, and that could inhibit the growth and survival of antibiotic resistant bacteria.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Bacterial Strains and Growth Media. The bacterial strains used in this study are listed in Table 1. *E. coli* K-12 resistant mutants with *rpsL, dsbC, glnE, nuoG548, rsmG, yaiW, nuoG10,* and *sbmA* are streptomycin-resistant strains derived from the *E. coli* K-12 wild-type from an exposure experiment under a low level (1/5 minimum inhibitory concentration, 1/5 MIC) of streptomycin together with environmental levels (20-2000 µg/L total) of pesticides for 500 generations. The medium used for this study is Luria-Bertani (LB) broth. *E. Coli* K-12 wild-type and mutants starter cultures were revived from -80 °C by adding 2uL of thawed aliquots into 2mL of fresh LB medium and

incubated overnight at 37 °C at 200 rpm on an orbital shaker. These cultures were regarded as G0.

Table 1. Bacteria strains used in this study

Strains	Genotypes	Fold change of MIC ₀
WT	Wild-type, gram-negative <i>Escherichia coli</i> strain K-12 (ATCC. 10798)	1
S1	rpsL (Arg86Ser), rsmG (Trp150fs)	25
S2	rpsL (Arg86Ser), rsmG (Trp150fs), dsbC (Val172Glu)	40
M1	<i>glnE</i> (Ala423Val), <i>yaiW</i> mutations (Phe183Ile, Gln186Asp, His187fs)	4
M2	<i>nuoG</i> (Ser548*)	3
M3	glnE (Ala423Val), nuoG (Glu10*), sbmA (Glu282*)	3

Competition Test and Culture Conditions. To do the competition test, we have 9 pairs of strains for competition. They are: WT/S1, WT/S2, WT/M1, WT/M2, WT/M3, S2/S1, S2/M1, S2/M2, and S2/M3. Environmental conditions studied included temperature (20 °C, 30 °C, 37 °C, 45 °C), pH (5, 6, 7, 8), and salinity (KCl 50 mM, 100 mM, 200 mM, 300 mM). Assays were conducted for each of the single conditions, followed by combining the selected environmental conditions (pH=5, 6, 7, 8; T=20 °C, 30 °C, 37 °C, 45 °C; and KCl 100 mM, 300 mM) with a combination of Streptomycin (Strep) and pesticides (P) as selection stress. The concentrations of Strep is 1/5 of its original minimal inhibitory concentration (MIC₀ = 8 mg/L). The pesticides used in the study is a mixture of different pesticide species that were detected in the environmental (Table S1).¹² The concentration of pesticide is 100 times of environmental concentrations.

Temperature was manipulated by setting the temperature of the incubator to 20 °C, 30 °C, 37 °C, 45 °C. pH was manipulated by adjusting the pH of LB medium with citric acid - sodium citrate buffer solutions (pH=5 and pH=6), or sodium carbonate - sodium bicarbonate buffer solutions (pH=8). Salinity was manipulated by adding 12.8 uL, 25.6 uL, 51.2 uL and 76.8 uL of 4 M KCl into fresh LB medium to generate 50 mM, 100 mM, 200 mM and 300 mM KCl solutions. The combination of environmental conditions with selection stress was carried out by first adding 10.24 uL of the pesticide mixture stock solution in methanol with the concentration of 10⁴ times of environmental concentration into the wells, and then adding appropriate volumes of LB medium with designated pH or KCl concentration and 1.64 uL of 1 g/L Strep stock solution after the methanol was completely evaporated.

Cultures of the strains were diluted in fresh LB medium to an equal optical density (OD) measured at 600 nm. And then, every pair of strains that were compared were mixed at the ratio around 1:1 for inoculation. 1 uL of 1:1 mixed cultures were inoculated into LB medium with different experimental conditions to the total volume of 1024 uL, and incubated overnight at the specified experimental temperature at 200 rpm on an orbital shaker. The cultures were serially passaged into LB medium with the same experimental conditions every day and incubated under the same conditions for three days, resulting in approximately 30 generations for each condition tested. Each pair and condition had three replicates. After 30 generations, 700 uL of the cultures were centrifuged to collect cell pellets. The remaining cultures were archived by adding 200 μ L of 50% glycerol and stored at -80 °C.

Growth Curves Determination. *E. coli* strains were grown overnight to stationary phase in 2 ml LB medium at 37 °C. Culture volumes of 1uL were transferred into 255 uL of LB medium with experimental conditions on a 96-well plate, which was sealed with a cover foil and incubated in a microplate reader (BioTek Instruments, Winooski, VT), and the OD_{600} was automatically measured every 30 min for 24 h.

DNA Extraction and SNP genotyping. DNA was extracted using the DNeasy Blood and Tissue Kit (Qiagen) according to the manufacturer's instructions. The DNA concentrations were determined on a Qubit 4 Fluorometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Wilmington, DE). After the concentrations of DNA were determined, we diluted them to a uniform concentration, which is 3 ng/uL, to do SNP genotyping.

We used PCR-based SNP genotyping assay via Custom TaqMan SNP Genotyping Assays (Thermo Fisher Scientific). The assay could target the mutant alleles identified in *rpsL*, *dsbC*, *glnE*, *nuoG548* and *nuoG10*. The assays were performed in accordance with the recommended thermal cycling conditions in 96-well plates on the qPCR instrument QuantStudio 3. According to the manufacturer's instruction, the genotyping reactions were carried out in a total volume of 5 μ L. The isolated mutant with the *rpsL*, *dsbC*, *glnE*, *nuoG548* and *nuoG10* mutant alleles confirmed by the SNP genotyping assay and the wild type were used as controls. To quantify the fraction of each pair of strains, we also set different fractions of the standard genomic DNA of the second strain at: 10%, 20%, 30%, 40%, 50%, 60%, 70%, 80%, and 90%. Three biological replicates were performed. Thermo Fisher Cloud "Genotyping" application was used to generate allele calls.

Statistical analyses. All statistical analyses were performed by R version 4.0.2. Oneway ANOVA was performed for statistical analysis. Comparisons were performed by LSD tests (p<0.05).

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Wild-type outcompeted resistant mutants under conditions without selection stress. We conducted a competition test between the WT and five antibiotic-resistant mutants under different environmental conditions, including temperature, pH, and salinity. The initial fractions of WT/S1, WT/S2, WT/M1, WT/M3 and WT/M2 were around 50%. The results showed that the fractions of each mutant to WT mostly became 1% or 2% after the 30-genefraction competition test. This indicated that the WT outcompeted the selected resistant mutants under the tested environmental conditions when there was no Streptomycin and pesticide selection stress. Mutations may have fitness costs and cause defects to the cell during the growth.¹³ We monitored the growth of the wild-type and the selected mutant strains of *E. coli* K-12. Table 2 shows the growth parameters for the tested strains at four temperatures (20 °C, 30 °C, 37 °C, 45 °C), at four pH (5, 6, 7, 8), at different concentrations of KCl (50 mM, 100 mM, 200 mM, 300 mM) and under combined conditions with selection stress. At most tested conditions, WT reached a higher optical density after 24h incubation than the resistant mutants, which resulted in the WT outcompeting resistant mutants. However, at some conditions, the optical density after 24-h incubation of WT was lower than resistant mutants. But we observed from the growth curve that under these conditions, WT had the largest

maximum growth rate or had a relatively shorter lag phase. The rapid growth rate and short lag phase quickly established the growth advantage of WT, allowing WT to make full use of nutrients in the medium, thus inhibiting other resistant mutants.¹⁴

Figure 1. Growth competition between WT, S1, S2, M1, M2, and M3 under different conditions. The percentage represents the fraction of strain A in the total of strain A and strain B.

S	strain A	W	/T	W	νT	V	VΤ	W	/T	W	/T	S	2	S	2	S	2	S	32	1%
S	Strain B	S	1	S	32	N	1 1	N	12	N	13	S	1	N	f1	N	12	N	13	10%
Ge	eneration	G0	G30	G0	G30	G0	G30	G0	G30	G0	G30	G0	G30	G0	G30	G0	G30	G0	G30	20%
	20°C	51%	91%	52%	91%	53%	91%	51%	91%	51%		47%	42%	52%	37%	48%	83%	50%	79%	30%
Without	30°C	51%		52%		53%	95%	51%	95%	51%		47%	50%	52%	49%	48%	81%	50%	76%	40%
stress	37°C	53%		54%		53%	99%	51%	99%	50%		47%	59%	52%	48%	48%	83%	50%		45%
	45°C	53%		54%		53%	99%	51%	99%	50%		47%	61%	52%	56%	48%	93%	50%	99%	50%
	20°C	51%	2%	52%	1%	53%	6%	51%	6%	51%	3%	47%	46%	52%	76%	48%	62%	50%	76%	55%
With	30°C	51%	5%	52%	3%	53%	6%	51%	6%	51%	5%	47%	51%	52%		48%	74%	50%	94%	60%
stress	37°C	53%	5%	54%	11%	53%	11%	51%	4%	50%	5%	47%	51%	52%		48%	75%	50%	92%	65%
	45°C	53%	2%	54%	2%	53%	8%	51%	9%	50%	21%	47%	53%	52%		48%		50%		70%
	pH=5	53%		54%		53%	99%	51%	99%	51%		47%	15%	52%	36%	48%	53%	50%	36%	75%
Without	pH=6	53%		54%		53%	99%	51%	98%	51%		47%	25%	52%	34%	48%	75%	50%	35%	80%
stress	pH=7	53%		54%		53%	99%	51%	99%	50%		47%	59%	52%	48%	48%	83%	50%		90%
	pH=8	53%		54%		53%	99%	51%	99%	50%		47%	51%	52%	91%	48%	73%	50%	89%	
	pH=5	53%		54%		53%	99%	51%	99%	51%		47%	30%	52%	53%	48%	55%	50%	43%	
With	pH=6	53%	99%	54%	99%	53%	99%	51%	98%	51%	99%	47%	41%	52%	47%	48%	74%	50%		
stress	pH=7	53%	5%	54%	11%	53%	11%	51%	4%	50%	5%	47%	44%	52%		48%	75%	50%		
	pH=8	53%	70%	54%	76%	53%	99%	51%	98%	50%		47%	42%	52%		48%	75%	50%		
	50 mM KCl	53%		54%		53%	99%	51%	99%	50%		47%	59%	52%	53%	48%		50%	40%	
Without	100 mM KCl	53%		54%		53%	98%	51%	98%	50%		47%	64%	52%	57%	48%		50%	46%	
stress	200 mM KCl	53%		54%		53%	98%	51%	98%	50%		47%	62%	52%	60%	48%		50%	55%	
	300 mM KCl	53%		54%		53%	98%	51%	98%	50%		47%	74%	52%	53%	48%	97%	50%	50%	

Influence of pH on competition between antibiotic resistant mutants. Acidity and alkalinity of the environment also significantly affected the growth kinetics of the tested strains. Baka et.al15 observed that the lowest pH yielding growth of *E.coli* K-12 was 4.5, the highest pH value for which growth was observed was 8.5, and the optimal pH for *E. coli* K-12 is around 7-7.5. The change of pH caused the lag phase to become longer and the maximum growth rate to become slower. Acidic conditions had a more obvious inhibitory effect than alkaline conditions. We competed the strongly resistant mutant S2 with another strongly resistant mutant S1 and three mildly resistant mutants M1, M2, and

M3 under four different pH. The competition results under different pH were shown in Figure 1 and Figure 2A. S2 had a growth advantage and became outcompeting in neutral and alkaline conditions. However, as the pH decreasing, S2 gradually lost its growth advantage. When competing with S1 in pH=7, S2 slightly outcompeted S1 with the fraction of S2 increasing to 59% after the competition. But when the pH decreased to pH=5 and pH=6, S2 lost its growth advantage and S1 outcompeted S2 significantly. As we can observed from the growth kinetic parameters (Figure 1) and growth curves (SI), S1 had a significant shorter lag phase (p<0.05) than S2 at pH=5 and reached to a higher optical density than S2 at pH=6. At pH=8, the growth of S1 and S2 were similar, which resulted in the competition fraction of around 50%. When incubating under acidic conditions, M1 and M3 outcompeted S2 significantly. The growth kinetics showing that M1 and M3 reached to higher cell densities than S2 also supported this conclusion (Figure 1). When incubated at pH=8, M1 and M3 lost growth advantages and S2 became outcompeted. The growth parameters also shown that S2 had higher optical density than M1 and M3. However, although the growth curves showed that M2 had higher or same cell densities than S2, the competition results were that S2 outcompeted M2 at all four different pH. Therefore, S2 was more susceptible to acidic conditions and was inhibited in the process of competing with other mutants for growth, thus losing its growth advantage.



Figure 2. Fractions of growth competition between S1, S2, M1, M2, and M3 after 30 generations when incubated without selection pressure under different pH (A), temperatures (B), and KCl (C). Dash lines indicated the initial fraction of each pair of strains at G0.

	OD _{24h}	V _{max}	LPD	OD _{24h}	V _{max}	LPD	OD _{24h}	V _{max}	LPD	OD _{24h}	Vmax	LPD	
Conditions		pH=5			pH=6		<u> </u>	pH=7		pН	=8		
WT	1.07 ^{ab}	1.59ª	3.33°	1.47 ^a	6.19 ^a	1.53°	1.33 ^{bc}	3.35 ^a	1.16 ^b	1.16 ^a	2.69 ^a	2.56 ^a	
S 1	0.75 ^c	1.09 ^c	6.10 ^b	0.95 ^{bc}	2.10 ^c	3.86 ^a	1.49 ^a	3.08 ^b	1.46ª	0.74 ^{bc}	1.34 ^c	1.57 ^b	
S2	0.76 ^c	1.08 ^c	7.96 ^a	0.81 ^c	1.70 ^c	2.13 ^b	1.41 ^{ab}	3.21 ^{ab}	1.45 ^a	0.81 ^{bc}	1.64 ^{bc}	1.17 ^b	
M1	0.95 ^b	1.65ª	2.13 ^e	1.29 ^{ab}	1.92°	1.75°	1.04 ^d	3.26 ^{ab}	1.43 ^a	0.83 ^{bc}	1.89 ^b	1.46 ^b	
M2	1.12 ^a	1.40 ^a	2.02 ^e	1.29 ^{ab}	3.90 ^b	1.56 ^c	1.33 ^{bc}	2.44 ^d	1.00 ^b	0.85 ^b	1.79 ^{bc}	1.34 ^b	
M3	0.96 ^{ab}	1.31ª	2.92 ^d	1.21 ^{ab}	5.4 ^{ab}	2.05 ^b	1.29°	2.79°	1.16 ^b	0.72 ^c	1.84 ^b	1.40 ^b	
Conditions	ions 20°C				30°C			37°C		45°C			
WT	1.50 ^a	1.72 ^b	1.78 ^d	1.51 ^b	2.26 ^a	1.70 ^c	1.33 ^{bc}	3.35ª	1.16 ^b	1.00 ^a	2.23 ^b	0.61 ^c	
S 1	1.50 ^a	1.78 ^b	2.44 ^{ab}	1.60 ^a	2.08 ^{ab}	2.79ª	1.49 ^a	3.08 ^b	1.46 ^a	0.79 ^b	2.01 ^c	0.93ª	
S2	1.37 ^b	1.77 ^b	2.47 ^{ab}	1.59ª	1.95 ^{bc}	2.27 ^{ab}	1.41 ^{ab}	3.21 ^{ab}	1.45 ^a	0.78 ^{bc}	2.06 ^c	0.94 ^a	
M1	1.54ª	2.01 ^a	2.06 ^{cd}	1.56 ^{ab}	2.11 ^{ab}	1.68 ^c	1.04 ^d	3.26 ^{ab}	1.43ª	0.75 ^{bcd}	2.46 ^a	0.64 ^{bc}	
M2	1.37 ^b	1.76 ^b	2.36 ^{bc}	1.33°	2.16 ^{ab}	1.76 ^{bc}	1.33 ^{bc}	2.44 ^d	1.00 ^b	0.64 ^d	2.26 ^b	0.77 ^b	
M3	1.30 ^b	1.80 ^b	2.69 ^a	1.25 ^d	1.78 ^c	1.82 ^{bc}	1.29 ^c	2.79 ^c	1.16 ^b	0.67 ^{cd}	2.24 ^b	0.77 ^b	
Conditions	K	Cl 0 mN	1	K	CI 100 n	ηM	K	Cl 300 n	nМ				
WT	1.33 ^{bc}	3.35ª	1.16 ^b	1.43ª	3.11ª	0.91 ^b	1.32ª	3.52ª	1.79ª				
S1	1.49 ^a	3.08 ^b	1.46 ^a	1.33 ^{ab}	2.73 ^{bc}	1.04 ^{ab}	1.21 ^b	2.63°	1.70 ^a				
S2	1.41 ^{ab}	3.21 ^{ab}	1.45 ^a	1.35 ^{ab}	2.93 ^{ab}	1.07 ^{ab}	1.20 ^b	2.60 ^{cd}	1.71 ^a				
M1	1.04 ^d	3.26 ^{ab}	1.43 ^a	1.31 ^b	3.14 ^a	1.33 ^a	1.18 ^b	3.17 ^b	1.71ª				
M2	1.33 ^{bc}	2.44 ^d	1.00 ^b	1.19 ^c	2.69 ^{bc}	0.73 ^b	1.08 ^c	2.35 ^{de}	0.82 ^b				
M3	1.29 ^c	2.79°	1.16 ^b	0.99 ^d	2.47°	0.82 ^b	0.93 ^d	2.17 ^e	1.01 ^b				

Table 2. Growth kinetics of E.coli K-12 strains at different conditions without selection stress

OD24h=optical density after 24h incubation; Vmax=maximum growth rate; LPD=lag phase duration. Values with different letters are significantly different (p<0.05).

Influence of temperature on competition between antibiotic resistant mutants.

Temperature was considered as one of most important factors of inhibiting antibiotic resistant bacteria.¹⁶ Duffy¹⁷ found that the temperature had a significant effect on the growth kinetics of *E. coli* with a lower growth temperature significantly lengthening the lag phase and slowing the growth rate from that observed at 37 °C. When we lowered the growth temperature to 20 °C and 30 °C, or increased the temperature to 45 °C, the lag

phase of all the strains became longer and the maximum growth rate slower than at 37 °C. When we increased the temperature to 45 °C, all the strains were greatly inhibited and reached to the lowest OD_{24h} . Therefore, higher temperature seems to favor for the elimination of resistant mutants.⁶

The fractions of each pair of mutant strains after 30 generations were showed in Figure 1. For the competition between two strongly resistant mutants S1 and S2, there was an increasing trend of the fraction of S2 to S1 with the increase of temperature, and S1 outcompeted S2 at 20 °C, 30 °C and 37 °C (Figure 2B). When we increased the temperature to 45 °C, S2 became outcompeting but the growth advantage was not obvious. The competition between S2 and the mildly resistant mutant M1 had a similar increasing trend with the fraction increasing from 37% at 20 °C to 56% at 45 °C. For the other two mildly resistant mutant M2 and M3, S2 outcompeted at all tested temperatures, and the growth advantages of S2 over M2 and M3 were evident.

Influence of salinity on competition between strongly resistant mutants and mildly resistant mutants. The effects of different concentrations of KCl were diverse on the mutants used in this experiment. As the concentration of KCl increased, S2 gradually showed more growth advantages over S1, with the fraction of S2 to S1 risen from 59% to 74%. This indicated that high concentration of KCl was more suitable for S2 but inhibited the growth of S1. The competitions between M1 and S2 were roughly similar to that of S1 and S2. As for M2, the fraction of S2 to M2 increased from 83% to nearly 100% and it did not matter how much KCl we added. The OD_{24h} of M2 were

significantly smaller relative to the condition without KCl. The growth of M2 was significantly inhibited by the addition of KCl compared with the no-KCl condition. It was noted that the growth advantage of M3 over S2 was greatly promoted when incubated under conditions with KCl. There were astounding 36%-51% decrease. However, the growth curves showed that the OD_{24h} and V_{max} of M3 were smaller than that of S2. But we noted that the LPD of M3 was significantly shorter than that of S2, from which we could speculate that the shorter LPD made it more advantageous for the growth of M3 at the beginning of the competition. However, although the addition of KCl helped M3 to establish the growth advantages over S2, M3 did not outcompete S2 at higher KCl concentrations, and the results were that these two mutants grew roughly equally well.

Adding selection stress changed the competition results under certain conditions. When we combined (1/5 Strep, 100 P) selection stress with pH, the competition results changed greatly that WT was outcompeted by the antibiotic resistant mutants at pH=7 (Figure 1). The growth kinetics showed that the growth of WT at pH=7 had been significantly inhibited (Table 3). The V_{max} became slower and the stationary phase was shorter that the cells soon came to the death phase. However, the selection stress did not have significant effect at pH=5, pH=6 and pH=8. The change of pH, no matter increasing or decreasing, reversed the effect of antibiotic and pesticide on WT, and WT became the dominant strain in the culture again. When we compare S1 and S2 under different pH conditions with selection stress, we found that the fractions of S2 did not change much and were roughly around 40%. When competed with mildly resistant mutants, S2 had absolute growth advantages in neutral and alkaline conditions. The growth advantages were also reflected in the growth kinetics that S2 had slightly higher OD_{24h} and V_{max} than the other three mildly resistant mutants at pH=7 and pH=8.

As for the combination of selection stress and temperature, the competition results showed that all the antibiotic resistant mutants outcompeted WT at the four tested temperatures (Figure 1). As expected, the combination had a significant effect on the growth kinetics of WT with selection stress, significantly slowing the V_{max} and reducing the OD_{24h} (Table 3). The mildly resistant mutants were also inhibited by the selection stress, but the effects were not as evident as WT. The V_{max} of strongly resistant mutants increased, and the LPD decreased after adding selection stress. S2 outcompeted the other four mutants and the growth advantages became more obvious as the temperature increased (Figure 3B).

When we combined selection stress with salinity, both S1 and S2 outcompeted WT under conditions with stress. But as the concentration of KCl in the medium increasing, S1 and S2 mutants gradually lost their growth advantages over WT, as the fractions of WT to the two strongly resistant mutants increased around 40%. As for competition between S1 and S2, the addition of selection to the salinity would benefit the growth of S1 compared to S2, but the growth of two strongly resistant mutants under such conditions were similar, with the final fraction remained close to the initial fraction.

	OD _{24h}	V _{max}	LPD	OD _{24h}	V _{max}	LPD	OD _{24h}	V _{max}	LPD	OD _{24h}	V _{max}	LPD	
Conditions		pH=5		pH=6				pH=7		pH=8			
WT	1.08 ^a	1.58ª	3.21°	1.35 ^b	7.21ª	1.72 ^{bc}	0.76°	2.79 ^b	0.97°	1.06 ^a	2.63ª	2.89ª	
S 1	0.87 ^b	1.12 ^{cd}	6.04 ^b	0.74^{d}	1.45 ^d	1.88 ^b	1.42ª	3.05 ^a	1.48 ^a	0.87^{b}	2.09 ^b	2.39 ^b	
S2	0.81^{bc}	1.00 ^d	7.72 ^a	1.04 ^c	1.70 ^d	1.77 ^{bc}	1.45 ^a	3.02 ^a	1.25 ^{ab}	0.81^{bc}	2.12 ^b	2.48 ^b	
M1	0.75 ^{bc}	1.57ª	2.11 ^e	1.35 ^b	5.70 ^b	1.64°	1.19 ^b	2.40°	0.70 ^d	0.78^{bc}	1.92 ^{bc}	1.38°	
M2	0.65 ^{cd}	1.41 ^b	2.00 ^e	1.53ª	2.89°	1.55°	1.16 ^b	2.17 ^d	0.89 ^{cd}	0.77^{bc}	1.72°	1.22 ^c	
M3	0.52 ^d	1.2°	2.86 ^d	1.23 ^b	4.95 ^b	2.14 ^a	1.11 ^b	2.46°	1.23 ^b	0.73°	1.80 ^{bc}	1.46°	
Conditions	ns 20°C			30°C				37°C		45°C			
WT	0.56 ^d	1.36 ^b	1.46 ^b	0.89 ^e	2.58ª	2.41 ^b	0.76 ^c	2.79 ^b	0.97°	0.56°	2.25 ^{ab}	0.68 ^b	
S 1	1.47 ^a	1.90 ^a	2.71ª	1.50 ^a	2.34 ^b	2.85ª	1.42ª	3.05 ^a	1.48ª	0.74 ^a	2.07 ^{bc}	1.00 ^a	
S2	1.44 ^{ab}	1.75ª	2.40 ^a	1.54 ^a	2.34 ^b	2.69ª	1.45 ^a	3.02ª	1.25 ^{ab}	0.73 ^a	2.04 ^{bc}	0.96ª	
M1	1.30 ^{bc}	1.89ª	2.61ª	0.97 ^d	2.55ª	2.18 ^{bc}	1.19 ^b	2.40°	0.70 ^d	0.64 ^b	2.34ª	0.64 ^b	
M2	1.27°	1.87ª	2.75ª	1.28 ^b	2.22 ^b	2.24 ^b	1.16 ^b	2.17 ^d	0.89 ^{cd}	0.56°	1.98°	0.68 ^b	
M3	1.22°	1.67 ^{ab}	2.75 ^a	1.20°	1.93°	1.98°	1.11 ^b	2.46°	1.23 ^b	0.59 ^{bc}	2.04 ^{bc}	0.72 ^b	
Conditions	K	Cl 0 mN	1	K	Cl 100 n	nM	KC	Cl 300 n	nM				
WT	0.76°	2.79 ^b	0.97°	0.75 ^d	2.81 ^{ab}	0.91°	0.90 ^{cd}	2.50ª	1.39 ^{abc}				
S 1	1.42ª	3.05ª	1.48ª	1.23 ^{ab}	2.70 ^b	1.32 ^a	1.36ª	2.75ª	2.26 ^a				
S2	1.45ª	3.02 ^a	1.25 ^{ab}	1.32 ^a	2.84 ^{ab}	1.07 ^{bc}	1.15 ^{abc}	2.47ª	1.80 ^{ab}				
M1	1.19 ^b	2.40°	0.70 ^d	0.84^{d}	2.96ª	0.85°	0.85 ^d	2.68ª	1.21 ^{bc}				
M2	1.16 ^b	2.17 ^d	0.89 ^{cd}	1.15 ^b	2.70 ^b	1.19 ^{ab}	1.07^{bcd}	2.23ª	0.87°				
M3	1.11 ^b	2.46°	1.23 ^b	0.98°	2.66 ^b	1.02 ^{bc}	1.19 ^{ab}	2.20 ^a	1.11 ^{bc}				

Table 3. Growth kinetics of E.coli K-12 strains at different conditions with selection stress.

 OD_{24h} =optical density after 24h incubation; V_{max} =maximum growth rate; LPD=lag phase duration. Values with different letters are significantly different (P<0.05).



Figure 3. Fractions of growth competition between S1, S2, M1, M2, and M3 after 30 generations when incubated with (1/5 Strep, 100 P) selection stress under different pH (A) and temperatures (B). Dash lines indicated the initial fraction of each pair of strains at G0.

Environmental implications. In the absence of the selection stress, wild type had a completely dominant growth advantage. However, we cannot avoid antibiotics and pesticides in the natural environment, so we studied the combination of selection stress and environmental conditions. High temperature, high pH and high salt concentration were conducive to the growth of the strongly resistant mutant, while adding selection stress would make the growth advantage more obvious. However, low temperature and

acid conditions could weaken and inhibit the growth of the strongly resistant mutant but benefit the growth of mildly resistant mutants while they were competed. Therefore, to eliminate the strong antibiotic resistant bacteria, we should control the antibiotics in the environment and avoid high temperatures and high pH.

REFERENCES

1. de Kraker, M. E. A.; Davey, P. G.; Grundmann, H.; Grp, B. S., Mortality and Hospital Stay Associated with Resistant Staphylococcus aureus and Escherichia coli Bacteremia: Estimating the Burden of Antibiotic Resistance in Europe. *Plos Medicine* **2011**, 8 (10).

2. Smith, R.; Coast, J., The true cost of antimicrobial resistance. *Bmj-British Medical Journal* **2013**, *346*.

3. Khachatourians, G. G., Agricultural use of antibiotics and the evolution and transfer of antibiotic-resistant bacteria. *Canadian Medical Association Journal* **1998**, *159* (9), 1129-1136.

4. Smith, D. L.; Harris, A. D.; Johnson, J. A.; Silbergeld, E. K.; Morris, J. G., Animal antibiotic use has an early but important impact on the emergence of antibiotic resistance in human commensal bacteria. *P Natl Acad Sci USA* **2002**, *99* (9), 6434-6439.

5. Cabello, F. C., Heavy use of prophylactic antibiotics in aquaculture: a growing problem for human and animal health and for the environment. *Environ. Microbiol.* **2006**, δ (7), 1137-1144.

6. Zhang, Q. Q.; Tian, G. M.; Jin, R. C., The occurrence, maintenance, and proliferation of antibiotic resistance genes (ARGs) in the environment: influencing factors, mechanisms, and elimination strategies. *Appl Microbiol Biot* **2018**, *102* (19), 8261-8274.

7. Berg, J.; Tom-Petersen, A.; Nybroe, O., Copper amendment of agricultural soil selects for bacterial antibiotic resistance in the field. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.* **2005**, *40* (2), 146-151.

8. McKinney, C. W.; Loftin, K. A.; Meyer, M. T.; Davis, J. G.; Pruden, A., tet and sul Antibiotic Resistance Genes in Livestock Lagoons of Various Operation Type, Configuration, and Antibiotic Occurrence. *Environ Sci Technol* **2010**, *44* (16), 6102-6109.

9. Presser, K. A.; Ross, T.; Ratkowsky, D. A., Modelling the growth limits (growth no growth interface) of Escherichia coli as a function of temperature, pH, lactic acid concentration, and water activity. *Appl Environ Microb* **1998**, *64* (5), 1773-1779.

10. Conner, D. E.; Kotrola, J. S., Growth and survival of Escherichia coli O157:H7 under acidic conditions. *Appl Environ Microbiol* **1995**, *61* (1), 382-5.

11. Parhad, N. M.; Rao, N. U., Effect of Ph on Survival of Escherichia-Coli. *Journal Water Pollution Control Federation* **1974**, *46* (5), 980-986.

12. Xing, Y.; Wu, S. Q.; Men, Y. J., Exposure to Environmental Levels of Pesticides Stimulates and Diversifies Evolution in Escherichia coli toward Higher Antibiotic Resistance. *Environ Sci Technol* **2020**, *54* (14), 8770-8778.

13. Lenski, R. E.; Mongold, J. A.; Sniegowski, P. D.; Travisano, M.; Vasi, F.; Gerrish, P. J.; Schmidt, T. M., Evolution of competitive fitness in experimental populations of E. coli: what makes one genotype a better competitor than another? *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek* **1998**, *73* (1), 35-47.

14. Hibbing, M. E.; Fuqua, C.; Parsek, M. R.; Peterson, S. B., Bacterial competition: surviving and thriving in the microbial jungle. *Nat Rev Microbiol* **2010**, *8* (1), 15-25.

15. Baka, M.; Van Derlinden, E.; Boons, K.; Mertens, L.; Van Impe, J. F., Impact of pH on the cardinal temperatures of E. coli K12: Evaluation of the gamma hypothesis. *Food Control* **2013**, *29* (2), 328-335.

16. Diehl, D. L.; LaPara, T. M., Effect of Temperature on the Fate of Genes Encoding Tetracycline Resistance and the Integrase of Class 1 Integrons within Anaerobic and Aerobic Digesters Treating Municipal Wastewater Solids. *Environ Sci Technol* **2010**, *44* (23), 9128-9133.

17. Duffy, G.; Whiting, R. C.; Sheridan, J. J., The effect of a competitive microflora, pH and temperature on the growth kinetics of Escherichia coli O157 : H7. *Food Microbiol.* **1999**, *16* (3), 299-307.

SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Name	Classification	Conc. (µg/L)	Environmental samples and references	Purchase
2,4-D	Herbicide	0.2	Urban run-off ¹	Sigma
Atrazine	Herbicide	0.5	Groundwater and surface water ²	Sigma
Benomyl	Fungicide	0.2	Surface water ³	Sigma
Carbaryl	Insecticide	4.8	Surface water ⁴	Sigma
Carbofuran	Insecticide	0.38	Ground and surface water ⁵	Sigma
Chlorpyrifos	Pesticide	0.4	Lake ⁶	AK Scientific
Clotrimazole	Fungicide	0.1	Wastewater ⁷	AK Scientific
DEET	Biocide	3	Wastewater influent ⁸	Sigma
Diazinon	Insecticide	0.3	Wastewater ⁹	Sigma
Diuron	Herbicide	1	Urban run-off ¹	AK Scientific
Fipronil	Insecticide	0.2	Urban surface water ¹⁰	AK Scientific
Imazalil	Fungicide	0.4	River ¹¹	AK Scientific
Imidacloprid	Insecticide	0.4	Ground and surface water ⁵	Sigma
Irgarol	Biocide	0.2	Coastal water ¹²	Sigma
Linuron	Herbicide	2	Rivers ¹³	Sigma
Mecoprop	Herbicide	2	Urban run-off ¹	Sigma
Metaldehyde	Pesticide	0.5	Surface water ¹⁴	Sigma
Metolachlor	Herbicide	0.4	Wastewater ⁹	Sigma
Propiconazole	Fungicide	1	Wastewater ¹⁵	Sigma
Tebuconazole	Fungicide	0.5	Wastewater ¹⁶	Sigma
Terbuthylazine	Herbicide	0.65	Ground and surface water ⁵	AK Scientific
Terbutryn	Herbicide	0.5	Rivers ¹⁷	Sigma
Thiabendazole	Fungicide	0.2	Wastewater influent ¹⁸	Sigma
Total		19.9		

Table S1 Environmental concentrations of selected pesticides



Figure S1. Growth curves of WT, S1, S2, M1, M2, and M3 at pH=5 (without stress (A), with stress (B)), pH=6 (without stress (C), with stress (D)), pH=7 (without stress (E), with stress (F)), and pH=8 (without stress (G), with stress (H)).



Figure S2. Growth curves of WT, S1, S2, M1, M2, and M3 at T=20 °C (without stress (A), with stress (B)), T=30 °C (without stress (C), with stress (D)), T=37 °C (without stress (E), with stress (F)), and T=45 °C (without stress (G), with stress (H)).



Figure S3. Growth curves of WT, S1, S2, M1, M2, and M3 at KCl=50 mM (without stress (A)), KCl=100 mM (without stress (B), with stress (C)), KCl=200 mM (without stress (D)), and KCl=300 mM (without stress (E), with stress (F)).

REFERENCES

1. Rippy, M. A.; Deletic, A.; Black, J.; Aryal, R.; Lampard, J. L.; Tang, J. Y.; McCarthy, D.; Kolotelo, P.; Sidhu, J.; Gernjak, W., Pesticide occurrence and spatio-temporal variability in urban run-off across Australia. *Water Res.* **2017**, *115*, 245-255.

2. Kolpin, D. W.; Furlong, E. T.; Meyer, M. T.; Thurman, E. M.; Zaugg, S. D.; Barber, L. B.; Buxton, H. T., Pharmaceuticals, hormones, and other organic wastewater contaminants in U.S. streams, 1999–2000: a national reconnaissance. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2002**, *36* (6), 1202-1211.

3. Senseman, S. A.; Lavy, T. L.; Mattice, J. D.; Gbur, E. E.; Skulman, B. W., Trace level pesticide detections in Arkansas surface waters. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **1997**, *31* (2), 395-401.

4. Elias, D.; Bernot, M. J., Effects of atrazine, metolachlor, carbaryl and chlorothalonil on benthic microbes and their nutrient dynamics. *PLoS One* **2014**, *9* (10), e109190.

5. Pitarch, E.; Cervera, M. I.; Portolés, T.; Ibáñez, M.; Barreda, M.; Renau-Pruñonosa, A.; Morell, I.; López, F.; Albarrán, F.; Hernández, F., Comprehensive monitoring of organic micro-pollutants in surface and groundwater in the surrounding of a solid-waste treatment plant of Castellón, Spain. *Sci. Total Environ.* **2016**, *548-549*, 211-220.

6. Papadakis, E.-N.; Tsaboula, A.; Kotopoulou, A.; Kintzikoglou, K.; Vryzas, Z.; Papadopoulou-Mourkidou, E., Pesticides in the surface waters of Lake Vistonis Basin, Greece: occurrence and environmental risk assessment. *Sci. Total Environ.* **2015**, *536*, 793-802.

7. Kahle, M.; Buerge, I. J.; Hauser, A.; Müller, M. D.; Poiger, T., Azole fungicides: occurrence and fate in wastewater and surface waters. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2008**, *42* (19), 7193-7200.

8. Xing, Y.; Yu, Y.; Men, Y., Emerging investigators series: Occurrence and fate of emerging organic contaminants in wastewater treatment plants with an enhanced nitrification step. *Environ. Sci. Water Res.Technol.* **2018**, *4* (10), 1412-1426.

9. Campo, J.; Masiá, A.; Blasco, C.; Picó, Y., Occurrence and removal efficiency of pesticides in sewage treatment plants of four Mediterranean River Basins. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2013**, *263*, 146-157.

10. Ensminger, M. P.; Budd, R.; Kelley, K. C.; Goh, K. S., Pesticide occurrence and aquatic benchmark exceedances in urban surface waters and sediments in three urban areas of California, USA, 2008–2011. *Environ. Monit. Assess.* **2013**, *185* (5), 3697-3710.

11. Ccanccapa, A.; Masiá, A.; Navarro-Ortega, A.; Picó, Y.; Barceló, D., Pesticides in the Ebro River basin: occurrence and risk assessment. *Environ. Pollut.* **2016**, *211*, 414-424.

12. Liu, D.; Pacepavicius, G. J.; Maguire, R. J.; Lau, Y. L.; Okamura, H.; Aoyama, I., Survey for the occurrence of the new antifouling compound Irgarol 1051 in the aquatic environment. *Water Res.* **1999**, *33* (12), 2833-2843.

13. Irace-Guigand, S.; Aaron, J. J.; Scribe, P.; Barcelo, D., A comparison of the environmental impact of pesticide multiresidues and their occurrence in river waters surveyed by liquid chromatography coupled in tandem with UV diode array detection and mass spectrometry. *Chemosphere* **2004**, *55* (7), 973-981.

14. Hallett, K. C.; Atfield, A.; Comber, S.; Hutchinson, T. H., Developmental toxicity of metaldehyde in the embryos of *Lymnaea stagnalis* (Gastropoda: Pulmonata) co-exposed to the synergist piperonyl butoxide. *Sci. Total Environ.* **2016**, *543*, 37-43.

15. Van De Steene, J. C.; Stove, C. P.; Lambert, W. E., A field study on 8 pharmaceuticals and 1 pesticide in Belgium: removal rates in waste water treatment plants and occurrence in surface water. *Sci. Total Environ.* **2010**, *408* (16), 3448-3453.

16. Stamatis, N.; Hela, D.; Konstantinou, I., Occurrence and removal of fungicides in municipal sewage treatment plant. *J. Hazard. Mater.* **2010**, *175* (1), 829-835.

17. Quednow, K.; Püttmann, W., Monitoring terbutryn pollution in small rivers of Hesse, Germany. J. Environ. Monit. 2007, 9 (12), 1337-1343.

18. Guerra, P.; Kim, M.; Shah, A.; Alaee, M.; Smyth, S. A., Occurrence and fate of antibiotic, analgesic/anti-inflammatory, and antifungal compounds in five wastewater treatment processes. *Sci. Total Environ.* **2014**, *473-474*, 235-243.